ARKANSAS DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

SPECIAL EDUCATION UNIT
) PETITIONER
Parent, on behalf of , )
)
Student )
) CASE No. H-2013-24
v, )
)
LITTLE ROCK SCHOOL DISTRICT ) RESPONDENT

e — P ————— .
—— e —— e ——

NOW on this 14* day of May, 2013, came on for hearing Petitioner’s Request for a Due
Process Hearing, Petitioner—presented by Theresa Caldwell and Respondent, Little
Rock School District, represented by Khayyam Eddings, Attorney. This cause was submitted upon
the pleadings, the testimony of witnesses, argument of Petitioner and Respondent, and other matters
and things from all of which the Hearing Officer finds and Orders. Hearing in this matter was held
on May 14%, 15% and 16® 2013. Based upor the evidence presented and admitted into the record of
this proceeding, T make the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

ISSUES FOR HEARING

Student, Pre-Kindergarten last year 2011/2012 school year, now Kindergarten 2012/2013
school year in Little Rock School District: | |
Issues: Receptive and expressive language problems and developmental delays
Placed 12/07/2012 in Special Ed by parties” agreement. (No eligibility issue)
Alleged denial of FAPE by:

1) Failing to identify Student, and
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2) Provide services
a) Through send-homes, and
- b} Other things (not specified),
C]m':ps: Studeqt’s ;nother, starting with pre-school, pravided school with information re:
1) Student’s severe expressive receptive language impairment,
2) Behavioral difficulties, and that
3) Student had to Jeave schaol during preschool year to get therapies, claimg
Student was:
a) never ID’d as language impaired, and
b) never given services by the District.
Seeking: |
1) Compensatory education services,
2) Compensatory education for related missed services,
3) Eva]u&ti_on and appropriate IEP in:
a) least restrictive environment,
b) with one-on-one aide.
Claims when Student went to kindergarten, the mother “again” provided all
evaluations, but student still never identified as language impaired;
Claims huge amount of documents before end of 1* semester re/behavior, being placed
in alternative school on 45 day placement and being restrained by security guard;
Claims no indication from school and no referral for services;

Claims evenhad mother not provided information re/a disability and declined services,
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District still had obligation under Child Find to:
1) locate students w/disab ilities,
2) test them,
3) evaluate them, and

4) then provide services

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On March 26" 2013, a Due Process Complaint Notice was received by the Arkansas
Department of Education ﬁoﬂ_(“Parent and Legal Guardian™) o~
—( “Student™). The Parent requested the hearing because she believed thatthe Little Rock
School District (hereinafier referred to as “District”) failed to comply with the Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act of 2004 (20 U.S.C_ §§ 1400 - 1485, as amended) (IDEA) (also referred
to as the “Act” and “Public Law 108-446") and the regulations set forth by the Department by not
providing the Student with appropriate services as noted above in the issues as stated,

On April 5%, 2013 the District responded to the Notice with a copy to the Hearing Officer.
Onoor before the District was required to convene a resolution session and resolve the complaint prier
to April 25" to the satisfaction of the Parent. Because the issues were not resolved, Pre-Hearing briefs
were required on April 25" from the parties with a Pre-Hearing Conference scheduled for May 8%
2013. The Due Process Hearing was convened and held May 14" 15 and 16™ 2013, The attorney
for the Petitioner Parent was Ms. Theresa Caldwell, Esq, and the attorney for the Respondent District

was Mr. Khayyam Eddings, Esq.
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FINDINGS OF FACT

In Pre-Kindergarten, 2011-2012 schoof year, Student’s speech was muffled, hag
Some speech problems;

7.

-25 minutes before end
of class some days weekly;

8. In Pre-Kinderganen, 2011

~2012 school year, Student coyid do a lot of work, she

often she could come up with answerg 10 one else had:

9. In Kindergarten, 2012

-2013 school, year Student had no issue with academics untjj
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rocently, and no issues untjl early October 2012 with behavior which required her being restramed
and taken out of class;

10, Principal said it is District policy to remove a student from the classroom if thef are
out of control, screaming or throwing a fit, etc.;

11, In October 2012 Kindergarten teacher asked Prncipal about getting this Student
help and was told by Principal they must go though SBIT team and was given reconnnendanons to
try in class;

12, Student was suspended 11/07/2012, for throwing, yelling, screaming, knocking over
things and hitting teacher;

13. On12/07/2012 Parent authorized Student to be placed in special ed and to receive
District services,

14. Student was never Placed in a 45-day ALE.

ABSTRACT OF WITNESS TESTIMONY

Witness Parent testified there was no hearing impairment noticed! until approximately age 2

(ACH documents reflect age 3) when she noticed language problems. She took the student to
Arkansas Children’s Hospital who referred her to be tested for speech, occupational and physical
therapy (recommendation was therapy for all) * and she was referred for speech therapy, 120 minutes

per week., three to four times weekly.) This was before Pre-kindergarten which was the 2011-2012

' Vol I pp 18 and 22
> Vol. 1 pp 18 and 24
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schoo) year.” Witness testified she took student to Little Rock District based on recommendations
of Parent/Witness’s Aunt, —

Witness testified that she gave Dennis Development documents to school nurse and Pre-
Kindergarten teacher® Does not know if student received assistance in Pre-Kindergarten. Dennis
Devetopmental Evaluation done 08/09/2010.7 Witness testified that the student was having behavior
issues at time of evaluation. Witness testified that she provided Dennis Developmental Evaluation
when student went to Kindergarten but not when she went to Preschool’ but that the Students’s
Children’s Hospital Evaluation provided when inPre-Kindergarten’. Speechand language evaluation
not provided to Pre-Kindergarten as it was not done yet.'” Occupational therapy evaluation provided
to Pre-Kindergarten and Kindergarten."

Therapies provided by Complete Pediatrics and Hop, Skip and Jump in Pre-Kindergarten and
Complete Pediatrics in Kindergarten, who checked student out of school 3 times per week to provide
private service as requested by the Parent/Witness.

When there were behavior issues in Pre-Kindergarten. Witness’ aunt would go to school,

3vol. Ipp 27 and 28
*vol. I pp 26 and 27
SVol.1p 27

Svol. Ip 33

7 Ibid

% Vol. I pp 34 and 35
*Vol. Ip35

10 vl 1p 37

1 \ol, 1 p38 -39
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maybe one time per week; Parent/Witness may go to schoal for 30 minutes on lunch break (note, she

k2

did not say. every week)"* Witness said the t@cher told her the student was on samey level
academically as other kids.'*> Witness said the teacher told her at end of Pre-Kindergarten, 4™ 9 week
conference, the student on same level as other Pre-Kindergarten kids."* During the surnmer between
Pre-Kindergarten and Kindergarten student received services for speech, occupational therapy and
physical therapy.

For Kindergarten, ParenUWitness testified that she went t¢ school a couple of weeks before
start, she put ADHD on form for Kindergarten and gave envelope with evaluations to school nurse.

Behavior issues started first day of Kindergarten and were ongoing: Tantrums, throwing,

crying, screaming, Parent/Witness being called in nearly every day of her four-day work week;

student could take off shoes, hide in corner.’®

Claims student restrained by male secunty gwards picking her up, throwing her across arm
or holding her in place, said she was in room by office, with no one else present. !’ Principal said
District policy remove student if throwing a fit etc., Witness says student screaming so loud she had

lost voice and was hyperventilating,

Witness began going to school Fridays, her day off, for 30 minutes to 1 hour. Her aunt also

2 yol. I p 44
B Ihid.
" Vol. I pp 50 and 51

15 yol. Ipp 53 and 54
18 Vol. I pp 58-60

7 Vol. 1 pp 60 and 61
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wert some days. Never an aide with the Student, but another teacher would attempt to talk with
student, then principal called '® At one point Student in trouble every day almost. Principal said 45
days needed in alternate school due to the bebavior issues; suspended 11/07/2012, for Student hitting
teacher.” Student suspended for throwing, yelling, screaming, 11/07/2012, knocked over things and
hitting teacher.” Some of this behavior predicted earlier in a SSA report predicted that impulsive
behavior could increase if no support provided”

Report says use tangible, immediate consequences for good and bad behavior, does not know
if done. Alleges no speech therapy done nor was referral made She is talking about Kindergarten,
saying no referral done, says Student had learning disability and behavior issues communicated to
teacher, and says teacher said Student had ADHD, yet then says teacher said student did not have
ADHD, just wants attention, and she did not have time for one-on-one.? Student did not act out in
class when Parent began coming nearly every Friday >

Day Parent was told Student was to be placed for 45 days in alternative school, she went to
see District Superintendent and left information, was told that Barbara Barnes would contact her and

student would not be moved; never heard from Ms. Bames, Student suspended 3 days and Witness

¥ vol. Ip 66

1% vol. I pp 68 and 69

2 ol. 1 pp 68, 69 and 70
2 Vol Ip74

2 Vol.1pp 75 - 77

ByvolIpsa
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got counsel and filed for due process; Student did go back to school after the 3-day guspension.”

The 12/07/2012 meeting developed IEP, her signature not on it. Referralto Day Springs for
counseling services; Witness confused re/dates. Says she went to Superintendent’s office 2 times,
then says 3 times, re/student being sent home ard not tafking to anyone re/504 plan. Disruptive
behaviors continuing at school, different security guard, Student tells her about it; Says teachers say
student on level and talk to her about Student’s behavior™

Every 9 weeks she gets progress report; she says Student not doing well. ‘When asked if she
thinks Student’s issues are with her disabilities or being taken in and out of class, she says both, and
that Student knows when she is taken out of class, there will be no homework that day because she
will not be back. Claims documents présented as Student’s work never provided to her and it is not
Student’s handwriting™

In Kindergarten sees interventionist 3 times weekly, Says Student told her about group
therapy and Witness had conference with speech therapist and teacher. Does not know if Student
getting all speech therapy or not, rmisses 50 min. of school 3 times weekly for outside speech
therapy.?’ Not sureif 3 hours speech therapy daily for those 3 days weekly.

On 12/07/2012 witness authorized student in special ed?® Pre-Kindergarten report card

substantiated. Parent says keep working with student; Pre-Kindergarten skills assessment for

2 yol. I pp 106 - 107
25 vol. 1 pp 109 - 117
25 yol Ipp 118 - 130
TyolIp 131-133

Byol.Ip 134
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Kindergarten, increases; she denies receiving same and claims she has not scen Student do what
school says.2® When she registered student for Pre-Kindergarten, she gave Evaluarions from Dennis
Development, Hop Skip and Jump and Complete Pediatrics (formerly known as Hop Sldp and Jump)
to Ms. Love and to nurse and Ms. Love said she’d get to nurse also.” Complete Pediatrics chose the
time for therapy and student could leave earlier in Pre-Kindergarten for that, and transportation was
important for Kindergarten and 2:30 was earliest student could leave school afier therapist talked
to school.¥ Never talked to anyone re/could student do later and not miss class.

On form prior to enrolfing in Kindergarten, she checked ADHD, 12/02/12, but actually no
such diagnosis.™

She did not always get behavio.r documents, was just called to get student, and she did not
keep all the documents she did get, did not start saving untii Oct. 2012 as it was nearly daily. In Pre~
Kindergarten, she never received behavior documents and Student never sent home.” Nov. 2013
(13% or 16™, discrepancy as to date) meeting she did not attend, as counsel said she need not do so.*
Student never accused of hitting or kicking teacher, throwing chairs, turning over furniture in Pre-

Kindergarten; there was an aide, Ms. Johnson, but she wasnot one-on-one; Ms. Lovewas Student’s

2 ol Ipp 135-136
®vol.1p 155
M vol. 1p 157
vl 1p 159
3 vol.1p 164

** Vol. Ipp 165 - 166
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teacher, Student’s learning progressed as set out in reports, but she disagrees.”

Went to Superintendent’s office. Sept., Oct. and Nov. 2012, therewas a communications log,
between her and the teacher: claims Student not disruptive on Fridays when she was there.*®

The evaluation done at age 3 had a list of therapists and facilities that could be used, and she
chose Hop Skip and Jump as closer to her home and they provided daycare and transport she could
not; The Evaluation says copy being provided as referral to Thelma Jasper, Service Coordinator for
Pulaski County, with her phone number shown, and shows copy to Ms. Jasper, Early Childhood
Coordinator, Tri-District Cooperative. Witness notified them she was receiving services for therapy
from Fop Skip and Jump afier that office contacted her re/services they offered and were trying to
place Student in North Little Rock, and Witness said no, she was not interested; denies she was told
there was a main office for placement of special ed Pre-Kindergarten services™

Student gets 180 min. speech therapy weekly, and she thinks 120 min. weekly OT at no cost -
in a private program after school. **Witness says for Pre-Kindergarten and Kindergarten there were
five Parent-Teacher conferences before student started special ed (actual ones, not going in

re/behavior, etc.) and she attended all.*

3% Vol I pp 168 - 169
36

Vol. Ipp 170 - 174
T yol. Ipp 175 - 179
a8

Vol. Ipp 179 - 181

39 Vol. Ipp 181 - 183
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She hasin-home daycare center, hashad some training re/Developmental stages of children ¥
For this school year 2012/2013 she has come to school to sit with Student (classroom observation),
acknowledged when she went to get Student tantrum may have been over, says she acts like normal
kid. She never noticed language impairment though Student’s Parent told ber of same. She has seen
frustration/crying, but no fits etc.*’ She talked to Student over phone maybe couple of times, not
hyperventilating, maybe called 1time a week. Never came to the school in Pre-Kindergarten, She is
with Student before and after school except when Student picked up from school by therapy™

CASEY SMITH
Baseline Kindergarten teacher

She has taught Kindergarten three years and also has taught Pre-Kindergarten, no other
prades. Total teaching 9 years, InJast 3 years she had 5 TEP meetings; besides this Student, has made
1 special ed testing referral in Kindergarten before this Student at the parent’s request; she never
heard of Child Find, just watches for issues re/academics or behavior; no issue with academics for
this Student until recently, and no issues until recently re/behavior 1" semester with Student being
restrained/taken out of class (NOTE: counsel talks about student missing time in the school day). This
is the teacher the student hit; say mother never told her Student had any disabilities; she knew Student
" was receiving outside services because Pre-Kindergarten aide told her Student got speech and OT
when teacher went to office. Re/ time Student was to leave, said Student was Jeaving about 2:10-2:15
p.m., and school ends at 2:35, so student missing only pull-out: activities such as music, art, PE. At

end of 1* nine weeks, approximatety October, she asked Principal about getting this Student help, and

Wyel. Ip 191

* Vol. 1 pp 192 - 195

2 Vol. Tpp 195 - 198
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they must go thru SBIT tcam with Student present for recommendations; she was given
recommendations to try in class.”

She did not make referral; behavior progressed to point Ms. Ray said call office and she could
handle that; 1% semester, temper tantrums 2-3 times week, security guard there 2-3 times week, but
only restrained student 1 time 2 week; SBIT team recommended Student go to Franklin Elementary,
an alternative school, to work on behavior 45 days. She says being out hurt Student academically,
but that she was right in middle of the group initialy. There are 3 progress reporting periods in
Kindergarten, instead of grade they give (1): student does not meet standard, can’t do on own; (2):
can do some independent but still need teacher’s assistant, or (3): independently over and over
without teacher’s assistance.* This Student was initially at zero re/word recognition, expected, but
siill there in December teacher surprised, started pulling Student and working on; in December she
learned Student had language impairment.*

Could not say language disorder was cause of the academic difficulites, as comparing her to
other students and some still doing same.* Student couldn’t match any words read to those printed
through December, but latest record shows she could do 9 out of 25, and teacher says Student meets

or exceeds grade level standards.”” They test and then teach. Student did not do well on the K-2 math

test showrL, so it’s not just Kindergarten (5 out of 46 in math), said Student meets or exceeds grade

3 vol. 1 pp 198 - 204
“ yol. I pp 204 - 206
45

Vol. Ipp 206 - 210
46

Vol. Ipp 210 -211

" Vol. 1pp 211 - 215
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level ** Looking at Student’s grades, absences were not problem, only disruption being out of cléss
3o mmoh: she noted behavior issues und SBIT committee recomm ended early Parent-teacher
conference; other recommendations were happy face and treasure chest; there were no aides inthe
building for Kindergarten. There are paraprofessional, but not for Kindergarten.* The aunt came
sometimes, but never stayed in class. The mother came many times.® Teacher believes an aide rather
than security guard could be more suitable. Daily behavior charts discussion: References times during
day so Parent can see what goes on. One suggestion from commitiee wasto ignore this Student; that
did not work and was when Student hit her afier teacher had talked to the Student* They found the
math coach, Ms. Gonzales, who bonded with this Student, and they talked to Student each morning
before day started re/what could be expected and what she could do instead of scream and cry.
Functional assessment done by Sharra Hampton, school counselor, team leader in charge of
getting SBIT team together, setting dates and listing who is going to present students.* A suspected
digability is considered in 1* grade for a Kindergarten student; they want to give kindergarten kids
one year in school before making diagnosis, a referral to see if that vs. just immaturity or not being
in school before; special ed referrals are made in 1% grade. ™ She knew about Student getting outside

services, but not that anyone was wanting it to be brought in to the school; at the 2% meeting in

8 viol. 1pp 216 - 220
®Yol. pp7-11
Vvol. IIp 11
lvel. IIp 13
2vVol.Op 16

3 ol M pp 16 - 17
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November 2012, Student’s behaviors discussed and ways to deal with those; SBIT committee met
10 deal with the big behaviors until student placed in ALE because it takes time to get all the
docurmentation in place.>

First grade teacher came inwhén Student screaming to give assistance; open pod area; Several
teachers also helped when this student got to certain point; also a Ms. Espenda was an intervention
sub, as was a Ms. Holloway.*® This Student is pulled out during this teacher’s planning time > Quiet
time spot not working; Student crying and picking up and throwing chairs while there. Student has
learned that when she acts up her Parent or the aunt will come;, when Parent leaves, Student acts up
agein; Student upset because she couldn’t do math, screaming, kicking chairs, throwing her shoes;
if Student is frustrated she acts out.”

Principal told her Student was to be sent to ALE 11/07/2012; witness does not know if
principal told parent also.*® Individual positive behavior support plan designed by the psych examiner
05/11/12, Dr. Maria Lopez.” Testimony re/what occurred day Student finally kicked this teacher
<0 was removed from class. Witness heard about parent-provided evaluation after due process filing,
but never saw it. Cassandra Steele was not at the SBIT meetings, not involved prior to due process

filing, she represents special ed. speech dept.® Witness met with Ms. Steele 1time after due process

5* Vol. I1 pp 20 - 26
5% vol. I pp 30 - 34
% vol.Ip 35

57 Vol. I pp 35 - 41
5% vol. I pp 41 - 46
% Vol. I pp 56 - 59

% vol. 1l pp 59 - 60
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filing, 12/07/2012 when Student placed in special ed.® First of school year, 1ill end of September
1o behavior issues, wanting to show out, get attention; she wanted to watch behaviors totry to ﬁg&re
out what was going on before sending anything home.®

Witness describes their classroom pod: 4 classes in 1 large room divided by bookshelves.
School security guards unarmed, khakis and blue shirts with”Security” on back.® She does not
bekieve Student could not understand teacher’s instructions, and only timesteacher could occasionally
not understand student was when upset/distraught (student like any other kindergartener).®

The SBIT meetings for student began in October, teacher tried treasure chest rewards for
month or so, did not help this Student, actually caused more problems . (SBIT = School Based
Tntervention Team); purpose to try to solve classroom issues before turning to outside help;
consisted of literacy coach, math coach, principal, psych examiner, speech pathologist, special ed,
then behavior therapist from Day Springs). In the SBIT meetings. they suggested redirection when
Student had behavior issues.®

This teacher referred a student last year, and was told then by last year’s spedial ed teacher
and then last year’s psych examiner it could not be done till 1% grade; a student could qualify for OT

and speech, but not for special ed with special ed teacher for math/reading/academics.* Response

1 ol D pp 61 - 62
%2 yol. I pp 62 - 65

63 y7gl. 11 pp 65 - 68
- % ol X pp 68
6 Vol. T pp 69 - 75

% Vol L pp 76 - 77
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to intervention discussed: 3 tiers of levels to go through before being recommended for special ed
services. Special ed teacher last year explained that to this witness. This Student very capable of
doing work, but would act up before Parent came and after she left. SBIT team collects data for
forms needed to get student into ALE at a PIES mtg. 11/06/2012 she had to have Security reméve
Student after student hit her in back.®” Student acts out before/after mother comes or calls,
sometimes phone helps, sometimes not. Behavior escalates, happens daily, sometimes several times,
lasts up to one half hour or until put out of class and gets one-on-one attention, discussion re/book
going back and forth between teacher and Parent % Often kindergarten kids have non-honeymoon
period, about a month, separation anxiety, etc., so not seeing this Student’s behavior as different for
first month of school not unusual.*

Student actually hit teacher two times, two separate incidents, not contemporaneously
documented. One was slapping on leg, other hitting on back. The hit on back made noise. A third
hitting episode occurred after the due process meeting witness thinks. Student’s behavior slowly
escalated to point any interaction with other kids set her off. Teacher believes 60% of this Student’s
behavior was manipulative to get her way.™” When Student came back trom suspension she was
frustrated because she couldn’t do work, but was in group with others who could not ei ther,”

KATINA RAY
Baseline Elementary principal

S7 Vol. 11 pp 77 - 80
ol I pp 81 - 89
* Vol. I pp 90 - 93
70 Vol. Il pp 96 - 104

™ Vol. U pp 105 - 114
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| Educational background: She taught 10 years, an assistant principal 2 years and as principal
7 years, this is firsl ycar at Baseline Elementary, taught Kindergarten, 1%, 4% and 5%; wag aleo literacy
coach and educational consultant. Opened an Early Childhood Center also, Pre-Kindergarten
program.” This school’s nurseis also nurseat another elementary school. Nurse, Martha Friend, may
not have been there re/forms for registration, but there are others present to take the forms as in this
case.”

Usuaily anything with”health services” on it filters directly to nurse, and form discussed would
have been gathered registration day, it is North Little Rock District form, and witness says within past
couple of months she thinks she’s received from the mother the form, a Home/School Compact, it
is a Little Rock District form, but since Baseline Elementary is a priority and Title I school, that is
why they do the Title I from the School Compact (Baseline’s scores from past 3 yrs lowest in entire
state and lowest 5%, monitoring by State and providers come in and out of the school to assist in
raising test scores-the Benchmark scores, and they start at 3 grade; high poverty is Title T and
school gets federal funds to assist with students. Principal’s signature would already be on forms
handed out and then parents fill out and hand in at registration.™

Principal said teacher’s e-mail re/Student’s behavior was at end of October (says she knows
date because she looked at her documentation, she did not provide school counsel with that e-mail,
(asked to do so); she disagrees with teacher’s testimony re/student being discussed early Oct. at

SBIT mtg. and teacher being told to have parent conference early, also says Oct. 4™ no call came to

2 Vol. I pp 116 - 118
Vol p 121-126

™ Yol Il pp 127 - 131
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her re/taking student out of class for behavior; says sometimes calls to office are to security gu#rds;
says any type documents to her must be on Little Rock District behavior document or form; she
knew the Parent was coming to the school, but not until late QOct.”

E-mail of 10/24/12 produced from student’s teacher, on Student’s behavior, tried to send
Student to office but Principal not in building. Formal bebavior documnent dated 10/11/2012 would
not have gone to Principal, would have gone to Student’s parent and teacher kept copy, that would
explain why in school records.

Document presented, behavior report, but Principal’s signature not on it {would be under
“action taken”), re/10/11/2012 thing, and Principal has no knowledge of this document; said if she
had gotten it and signed it, it would have on it anything teacher needed to know, and if student
suspended would have gotten something signed by the Parent; 2™ behavior document presented,
witness does not recall any behavior issues with this Student prior to the Iate October e-mail from
teacher, but says she might say she would send a student home, and has no reason to doubt what
teacher says she was told by Principal, then witness says she really can’t recall dates; when she said
behavior document needed, there should be documents somewhere; she met with parent 01/2012, and
what she tells parents is what she has from talking with interventionists re/academics of the students
(the interventionists are in classroom daily, but Principal can’t speak for them).™

She met with teacher after the 10/24/2012 email and teacher told her Student seeking
attention and of the behaviors; Principal did interact with the Student in classroom and says Student

did not want to wait her turn, she wanted someone with her, but Prncipal says she had seen Student

™ Vol. 1l pp 132 - 138

76 Vol. i pp 138 - 149
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capable of doing the work; Student’s inappropriate behavior, Principal talked with Parent about
referval to school counselor and to Day Springs, mental health care provider on school campus, they
work with students in the classroom teaching self-control and organizational skills, and Parent agreed;
School started that process, but Parent notified school she did not want Day Springs’ assistance,
witness not sure if after due process filing, but referral is process, parent would have to fill out
paperwork, teacher has paperwork, student would have to go to Dr_, Principal not sure of how long
process takes; However, counseling could be immediate, meeting one-on-one if meltdown or other
problems, and that did start immediately; counselor would have that paperwork; counseling did not
work.”

Principal does not recall asking Student’s Parent about any disability, said if there is disabifity
parents usnally tell them; she did not think at the time it was appropriate in this case to ask about
disability. She did notice Student beng checked out early, thinks it was a daycare provider, and does
not recall talking with anyone from Complete Pediatrics.

Testimony re/student being checked out early. Thinks in place from previous years for early
checks-outs, but says not common practice as she feels students should be in class for instruction and
services, speech and occupational therapy can take place at the District. First leamned Student had
janguage impairment from the Parent, who said there was some paperwork, and witness thinks Parent
had someone bring documents to her, and Principal gave it to speech ;cherapist; very same day
Principal suspended student for behavior; her log reflects prior incidents also (log begins 10/25-

2012).* Was aware Student having to be restrained, herlog also lists people interacting with Student

T yol. I 150 - 156

78 yol. IT 157 - 165
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amd taking her out of class. Ms. Hampton is PIES interventionist; Principal assisted her vslrith
irdividual Behavior Positive Support Plan. Discussion re/reinstatement conferences are after
suspension and parent can give input and student can talk about what will be done differently, teacher
shares information.”

She told the Parent it would probably be recommendation for Student to be placed in 45-day
ALE,; did not tell Parent it would be certainty, as that is team decision; Does not recall Parent voicing
her disagreement to her; She knows Parent went to Superintendent’s office, and information was sent
to Barbara Barnes, but principal did not understand, as Student not in special ed and had no special
ed issues.” Barbara Barnes is special ed director for the District; Meeting was to be held day before
Student returned from suspension, She does not know who would have told Student’s teacher.
Teachers cannot make referrals until 1* grade; meeting not held because Parent refused to be present
on advice of counsel.®!

Julie Plunkett is speech therapist at Baseline Elementary; Witness said she did not know of
any referral being made when central office called. She knows the Parent shared some info wither,
but does not know how district got any documents re/speech and language. Baseline registration
procedure gone over again. She not aware of any disability when teacher shared info late October
2012 re/behavior; when Parent brought in documents, this witness gave to speech teacher and made
copy for psych examiner; Parent first receptive to Day Springs idea; this witness had meeting with

Parent/mom and dad, but witness thinks Parent declined Day Springs before the 12/07/2012
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placement in special ed. She did not read paperwork Parent gave her, just gave to speech therapist. ™

JULIE PLUNKETY
Speech pathologist for the District

Became aware of Student’s language issue 11/02/2012 when she met Parent and saw evaluation
paperwork she provided, was made aware Student receiving outside services; then found out time
frame in which she needed to schedule referral conference; she sent out emails so principal should
have known on 7™ of referral conference set for 16™ Says school principal not familiar with special
ed paperwork; after witness got special ed paperwork out. Principal said she had recommended
ALES; District counsel tells witness not to answer question when asked about knowing about
expulsion. Witness explains receptive language testing and results and impact of severe receptive
language delay, Student does not express self nicely, does not want to take turns, wants her way.®

She explains how she works with her, said Student’s receptive language is one level above
profound; thinks Student’s speech and language evaluation. brought in by Parent 12/02/2012. On
11/07/2012 she had conversation with Parent, who said she would attend 11/16/2012 referral
conference; Parent could not attend, so rescheduled to 11/28/2012, different students respond
differently if they don’t understand concepts; this Student is actually one of the higher performing
étudents and is doing very well; in therapy room they practice being kind whether they know how to
do the work or not; these small groups socially important also. She has seen an improvement with
what she is doing.*

SHARRA HAMPTON
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School Guidance Counsclor

First bec:ame aware of this Student late October or in Nov., had some contact wither prior;
believes this Student knew her behavior was inappropriate; thinks receptive expressive language
issues came up in meeting with Parent, not sull'e, but at some point she became aware Student had
outside services before; functional assessment of behavior checklist developed with Ms. Smith, the
form given by Ms. Norman, PIES coordinator, who adapted the special ed form and made them a part
ofher packet, this is the first piece of documents to go to SBIT team prior to ALE being referred;
she has seen the Student several times, not so much lately ®

From herlog, she had 10-15 min. sessions with student; one time Parent was there also; SBIT
suggestions are based on both student’s needs and District resources; she said school has to have
certain nufnber of students in order for aides to be available for Kindergarten students; individual
behavior support plan is also part of ALE package; she did know there were certain targeted
behaviors for this student; she has not seen all the documents counsel is showing her.*

MARIA LOPEZ BOYSEN
School psychologist specialist

School psychologist specialist 15 years, at Baseline Elementary since maybe mid-Sept. of
current school year (testimony is given 05/16/13, so this would be for 2012-2013 school yr); Her
primary job for the varicus schools she goes to (she is not just assigned to Baseline Elementary) is
to do psycho-educational evaluations, looking to see if students qualify for specidl ed services She

is also is part of SBIT team, participates in meetings to discuss student who are struggling and to help
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provide recommendations at times; she was on SBIT team re/this Student, and recalls teacher telling
team about behavior difficulties in classroom, and trying to find ways fo help with those; This witness
offered to meet with teacher at separate time to discuss in more detail concerns, and they did that and
came up with a behavior plan, dated 11/05/2012. She believes SBIT meetings re/this Student end
of October/first part of Nov. The document developed was for Student to be successfisl in current
classroom setting, *®

Probably around that same time, she knew Student had a language disability; this witness hag
no knowledge that a referral was not made—she understood a report had been provided indicating a
language impairment and their speech therapist was given that report and scheduled meetings to get
process going for Student to pet services at school.

She met with the Parent maybe couple of months after behavior plan developed, when they
got report from Dennis Developmental and scheduled conference to requesf functional behavioral
assessment and for her to do some assessments, but not sure when they got signed consent to start,
She was not involved in PIES and never saw the functional assessment/behavior intervention checklist
Ms. Hampton taiked about doing as part of PIES paperwork; the behavior plan this witness put
together was part of SBIT team meeting, and it could have been used later for PIES, witness not sure;
They had not received consent for her to evaluate Student or do anything further.® Her meeting was
after the 12/07/2012 meeting where the attorneys were present and she was not there then; prior to
that she had no other contact with teacher, Parent or anyone else re/services for the Student; nor

did she recommend at SBIT meeting a referral needed to be made.
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After she got Dennis Developmental Feports indicating possible ADHD, they decided

aware at SBIT meetings Student’s Parent had health diagnosis of ADHD when she enrolled Student
08/02; Had she known, it might have triggered a referral-she would have wanted to see how Student
Wwas progressing in classroom, and there has to be an adverse effect, so she would have wanted more
info, they would also want to iry some interventions in the classrooms, as often that takes care of
issues. Purposes of SBIT team to provide behavior support before going to formal special ed referral,

try to provide different interventions if students are struggling itis for behavioral and academic issyes

both—any issues preventing student from being successful in classroom; they help teachers with

intervention plan.®

THELMA JASPER

Early childhood Special Ed

Coordinator fo Pulaski County
Tri-District Early Childhood Program

? Vol. Tl pp 16 - 22
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warranted services.” Now Barly Childhood Special Ed Coordinator for the Little Rock District,
managing special ed program. If a pre-school student is referred to special ed services, by an entity
such as Children’s Hospital, copy would come to their office., especially if copied to their office; then
they would contact parent (if enough contact info) to advise receipt of report indicating student might
possibly need speech therapy or some speciat service, and schedule a referral conference if parent
wants that, following Federal law timelines; witness ID’d a referral form, and testified they would have
contacted the parent, initially by phone to get additional information re/student and set meeting
convenient for parent, and let them know written notice would be in mail. Procedure thenis they have
to make sure student eligible, and if all necessary testing not done then they would do that, as testing
in each deficit area needed; if student eligible, they do an IEP aud plan for student’s needs and
implement goals and abjectives in student’s pre-school setting, Student would come to their offices
for testing (in North Little Rock) and eligibility, then services would be provided at no charge at
eligible student’s pre-school or daycare setting. Kf'this Student had been placed with special ed services
in 2010, they are required by law to review progress annually, aud car do so more often if requested
by parent or teacher; if special ed services still needed and a student is still eligible when they go to
Kindergarten, the program transitions into Kindergarten setting ™

This Student was not serviced, since Parent called in and said she did not want, as services
were being received through another agency; parental consent is necessary, and this Parent did not
give it. The Tri-County District program dissolved summer 2012, now each District

provides/implements own services; this witness not familiar with this Student, just going off records
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(they are saved 5 yeﬁrs } Reason why no transition services for students who are not receiving
Distiicl-provided services from Pre-Kindergarten to Kindergartenis because other providers, Medicaid
providers are not required by their standards to transttion.*

There are different rules/regulations for each program, and students can enroll in Pre-
Kindergarten programat public school and not get special ed services unless parent coﬁsents; again,
if student in Medicaid program, they are not under same obligation as public district under IDEA. In
this case, records say “mother called, closed file.”*

Their files show that Medicaid is verified, but that does not give information concerning the
disability of'a student. District not required by ADE regulations to transition Pre-Kindergarten student
into special ed if not receiving school services.”” Itisa parent’s responsibility to call her office, as just
because a student is in 2 Pre-Kindergarten program does not mean her office. is aware of a student’s
delays/potential concerns; if a student’s teacher suspects delays, they contact her office for a referral,
If they got referral, under part D of IDEA, educational cooperatives responsible for providing FAPE
for students who were ID’d, and when those students are school aged, and cooperative no longer
involved, it becomes school’s obligation for FAPE; if they are leaving Pre-Kindergarten program and
are eligible for Kindergarten, the private provider no longer services the student and the District will
pick up with that service.

When this Student was enrolled in Pre-Kindergarten or Kindergarten, District had no follow-up

duty to see if special ed services needed because of Tri-District prior knowledge of outside agency
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services. Distnct still has Child Find duty for 3 to 21; because of the Tri-District program, they did
meet the Child Find obhgation. The Parent refused the service here, so then the District would not
necessatily have prior knowledge (witness is basing Parent’s refusal on the documents) %

LINDA LOUDERMILL
Day Springs Behavioral Health Services

Employed by Day Springs Behavioral Health Services which provides family and individual
counseling, medication management, psychological evaluations; they have day treatment program
for school age students; they operate at 6 elementary schools, including Baseline Elementary; students
are enrolled for their services, mostly from parent or school referral. Day Springs is private, non-profit
corporation with 2 Board of Directors contracted with the District.”” She provides individual
interventions, one-on-one sessions to ID behaviors and give ideas on coping decisions, sometimes she
goes into classroom to observe interactions in class, sometimes she goes in because teacher requests
when student having melt down and she ntervenes and assists in removing student. She has mental
health paraprofessional license to do interventions, not provide therapy; interventionists® interventions
follow treatment plans (provided by therapists), assist students with ID of behaviors listed on goals
and objectives, how to process behaviors, give redirection for better choices.”

October 29, 2012 she received referral from the school re/this Student, and talked with Parent
Nov. 4", explaining what she did and services she could provide; the Parent was very interested, and
witness told Parent what would be needed, a primary care physician refersal, and that she (the witness)

could request that, and would contact Parent if her assistance needed; witness could not get that PCP
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did see the Parent, it was after | 1"because a Sunday, the Parent said no longer interested because her

aitorney told her not to have any more dealings with Day Springs. ® Reason she left message she

about 10 days 1t
BEVERLY LOVE
Pre-Kindergarten teacher at Baseline
Pre—Kindergmen teacher at Baseline for 11 yrs_, has also taught Kindergarten; she was thig

Student’s Pre-Kindergarten teacher for 2011-2012 school year; there were 19 or 20 students (20 is
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the max); This Student would usually do her work: no tantrums, no turning over tables/chairs, no
throwing shoes or screaming,. The year before when there were two Pre-Kindergarten classes (there
is only one now), there was an aide for each Pre-Kindergarten class.'® Never had to call this
Student’s Parent re/behavior except shemay have called re/Student would not do her work, sometimes
parent would drop in, thinks near end of year, otherwise talk with on phone. Parent- produced papers
would go to nurse, not this witness. Nurse or secretary takes what papers they need and give rest to
teacher; either teacher or aide would redirect students as needed.'”

This Student’s speech was muffled, had some speech problems; She understood student
. receiving outside therapy, a driver would check her out, came to the classroom, take student out 20-
25 min. before end of class some days weeldy. Pre-Kindergarten has 3 recording periods, other classes
have 4; teacher wrote on the grade card for Parent to keep working with her in areas they discussed.
They never retain Pre-Kindergarten students. This Student could do  lot of work, she just wouldn*t
or didn’t want to (often she could come up with answers no one else had).'*
MARTHA SUE FRIEND
MNurse for the District

Nurse for the District; full time at Otter Creek Elementary since January; Prior to now, from
August 2009 to Dec. 2012 she split her time between Baseline and Dodd Elementary schools; it is
recommended but not required to be present at registration; She was at Dodd 12/02/12 and would

have been at Baseline on the other day. She was only nurse assigned to Baseline so if she was not
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there then there was no nurse there. She met Parent of this Student one time this Fail when Student
sivk; first talked with this Parent approximately August 2011 when doing nurse assessment and needed
to ask her questions.’” Witness shown several documents and had not been given any of them by the
Parent at any time during 2011-2012 or 2012-2013 school years. Nursing assessment does not
generally take place during registration, it is on phone in two parts: there is a list of about five
questions to ask parent and she would also do intervention screening on student (this is usually
requested by school specialist because they are getting ready for services for the student); she was
wrong an date; the Nurse assessment was 11/15/2012." THP sent home to Parent, Student had
appointment with Dennis Developmental Center set 12/20/2012, which is what Parent would havetold
her when they talked on phone when witness called Parent; also, Parent is who told her Student would
do better sitting in front of class (note, here, that earlier witness testified students sit in circle). If some
other nurse had been assigned to Baseline the day this witness was at the other school, this witness
would have known, as her supervisor would have called and told her, and that was not the case here.

Little Rock District Health Information form is to try to get health history and if there are any
problems the parent can tell them and they can send home forms that may need to be filled out by Dr.;

with this information she would have probably called Parent and sent home a form called ADHD

report form or Individual Healthcare Plan for Dr. to do." The form shown witness had ADHD

checked, with07/21/2010; Witness wrote diagnosis on form, diagnosis/behavior/ discipline issues. On

nursing assessment, she would have talked to Parent who voiced concerns over behavior so that is why
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she would bave sent it home to get something from Dr., to see what they could do for the Student.
Nurse denies she received any documents from Pasent Aug. 2011, Says she thinks she would
remember if she got it, as she would have gotten it to appropriate people if it did not pertain to her;
she gat a packet in November, clipped together, thinks it was from one of the specialists.'®® Did not
know this Student recommended for ALE; No one talked to her about this Student having tantcums
in class this past fall; she does not know anything about special ed or due process heanng requested
or why here now. The form shown this witness for this year shows ADHD checked, but she never got
new form from Dr.; she tries to get new form each year; the teacher gets a copy, the nurse gets copy,
and original is kept in main office, '
LAURA JENNINGS
Owner of and physical therapist
at Complete Pediatrics

Owmer of and physical therapist at Complete Pediatries since Angust 2011; this Student
receives speech/language and OT there, but this witness is not the therapist; Student gets therapy there
Mon., Tues. and Wed., approx. 3-5:30 or 2-30 to 3:30, depending on transport. Transport is provided
by Medicaid third party provider. Student gets 180 minutes, 3 hrs,, speech therapy weekly, 1 hour
per day, as well as OT for 120 min., 2 hrs. weekly (note: this means student is at this facility for 7.5-9
hours weekly, while total of both therapies is 180 plus 120, 300 minutes, or 5 hrs. weekly). At first
this Student had focusing issues, but now she does well with one hour sessions.' The evaluating

therapist there makes recommendation for how much therapy to be provided, using the medical model,
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which 18 Arkansas Medicaid Guidelincs; this witness not familiar with the educational model, but
believes guidelines are different. She #s appearing under subpoena, but was not asked to bring
documents; this witness is not aware that Student gets out of school early to come there; they clear
it with school time for student to be picked up and then tell the transport company.’* Witness has
brought has brought copies of speech language and occupational evaluations; she does not know
distinction between educational and medical models re/PT; can say that per medical model for PT is
student’s fanction within everyday life and education is geared more toward school day. Does not
know whether schools are required to meet medical model also since they bill Medicaid for speech
and OT. This school year the school requested evaluations on this Sdent, and they gave to Parent
(not sure when as it was done by her office manager); Student would receive same therapy and hours
in summers also, depending on Parent’s schedule, 2
CASSANDRA STEELE
Coordinator of speech and hearing services
Little Rock District

Coordinator of speech and hearing services for Little Rock District; 27 years with little Rock
District, 13 as speech pathologist and remainder in current position. First became aware of this Student
around end of October, Parent called downtown and was trying to get information or help for Sudent ;
this witness was in the building a lot first three weeks of school because speech pathologist, Fulie, was
new; this witness received memo from Ms. Barnes; toward end of October she was involved in SBIT

meeting in early November as Julie not comfortable with her not being there; Julie said there were
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some behavior issues.'™

SBIT designed to problem-solve for intery | tion with students having difficulties with
academics, and if it is behavior, any type of learning pro?b]em, they come up with things to help student
in classroom before special ed referral made (SBIT was designed when RTI [Response To
Intervention] was initiated). RTLis requirement for sch?ools ifa student is suspected of having learning
disability; This District expanded that in that any studn?ent who has any kind of learning disability, or
is suspected of having a learning disability, or needs int%erverﬁons before being referred to special ed,
they have an SBIT meeting Then confirms first awange of this Student October 2012 during SBIT

meeting, but only behavior was discussed (She was told by supervisor what created the emergency

per se, because the Parent said student being referred|to ALE and she did not want that done, The

PIES coordinator was at the SBIT meeting, explained what would need to be in place if referral made;

she did not hear principal say student was being referred go ALE. To be placed in ALE, they follow

student handbook if regular ed student, which says ifiso many discipline infractions under certain

categories happen, principal can then recommend %'m ALE placement if they've resolved all
intervention and strategies to help the student in schifoolwan ALE recommendation is one of the
possible resolutions. l

However, they must show that under the PIES; progress (Positive Intervention Educational
Supports) behavior plan is put in place and it is documiented process that was followed so students
aren’t referred at the drop of a hat. For student with YEP, they have to make sure all the components

of the IEP meets student’s needs and have been followed before ALE."™ There are two ALE
|
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environments in the District, and there may be another, she’s not sure. They have curriculum set up
to teach social skills as part of regular day school, but in self-contained classroom; 45 days is
maximum in ALE per law. Parent brought evaluation reports to school showing Student getting
speech and language for disorder; this witness told speech pathologist to set up referral conference to
review the infonmation right away, but Parent had gotten lawyer. She helped speech pathologist fill
out form; on or before Nov. 7, 2012 Julie made her aware Parent had provided a report from outside
agency re/speech language (that is why referral conference scheduled, to review information with
Parent) The speech and language evaluation from Complete Pediatrics recommended 180 minutes per
week speech therapy; this witness has done hundreds of speech and language evaluations, using the
educational eligibility criteria set by State and Federal law, she has also done clinical contract work
and worked evenings as speech pathologist, worked for Tri-District Early Childhood Program as
speech pathologist, has done evaluations from ages 3 to adults in grad school.'" Medical made]
different than educational model: Speech language test is same, but the eligibility criterja is
different-two things must be established: Youmust establish a disability exists, whichis giving the test,
and the results must show student has disability; in the educational model there is 2 third thing-you
have to establish the student’s disability have adverse effect in classroom causing student not to he able
to access general ed curriculum; then you program for how to best help that student access their
education using the educational model

Under the medical mode, they give the test, and if student has two — 1 .3 standard deviations,
or two standard deviations below the mean according to Medicaid, they qualify them just based on

that; So, just getting an assessment does not automaticatly qualify student for services, you have to
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look at educational guidclines for criteria in all areas of educational setting to confirm eligible for
services in schools. Medicaid will pay up to 480 in clinical setting for student with severe disability;
schools are required to access Medicaid, but Medicaid does not drive school services or how much;
School could say everyone gets 180 also, but they need that to access general curriculum. When they
make & recommendation for how much time a student gets, they look at all student’s needs. She says
this Student has lots of social needs and needs to interact with other students in groups as well as
getting therapy in all different settings; the School would not pull her out of class three times per week
for therapy and for five hours for therapy, as under the educational model that would not benefit
student."'® She helped speech pathologist fill out referral form, but did not participate in deciding who
to invite to the meeting; she had not seen the 2010 evaluations; when she saw referral for Tri-District
Cooperative, that made her wonder if Stadent had gotten services through Early Childhood; she and
a Thelma who works for her, asked if there was a file on this student, answer was no, so they started
looking. She is District person who does transition conferences for students who recommend services,

3-5, thru Tri District at the time, from Early Childhood Program into Kindergarten If a student had
been receiving services thru Tri-District, she gets those recommendations, they are referred to her; Tri-
District had disbanded, so she went to SEAS (web-based Special Ed Automated Services). One of
the ladies faxed her documents; the process is that they get doctor referral and set up referral

conference and call parent to schedule a date, usually 14 days out because they always give parent two

seven-day notices to schedule the conference In this case, document says Parent called, close file,

Student getting services thru another agency. So from time Dennis Developmental gave parent their

evaluation and faxed it to them at Tri-District, Parent had already decided to use Hop, Skip and J ump.
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Smce file closed, there was no conference to determine eligibility under Pre-school educational
guidelines or provide services'’

She knew Student getting services per Julie, and this witness called Complete Pediatrics for
report. She knew the could not be using 2-year-old report and there had to be current testing; they
typically do not use old reports on Pre-Kindergarten and Kindergarten students since they change so
quickly, developing and learning; Parent could not come to first scheduled conference, then her
counsel said not to go.""* She became involved because of Parent filing for due pracess; She said not
to invite Cassandra Norman because Parent had said she did not want Day Springs involved; ALE was
off table; at SBIT meeting she had not seen latest evaluations, and they had no documentation of
ADHD diagnosis.""® At referral conference they discussed appropriate settings for this Student to gain
soctal skills, training so Parent would not have to be called so often, professionals to deal with
displayed beﬁaviors as well as obtain therapy services; placing her in self-contained class was rejected.
She asked speech pathologist to add social skills goals, pragmatics goals. This was really only
alternative since Parent did not want Day Springs services (they would also have provided mental
health strategies). Counsel said no to testing, 1o updated OT testing and to pragmatics assessment,
as Student was to be tested for autism and counsel said wait. So, all they could provide was adding
goals through speech pathologist, on not just recommendation and receptive and expressive language
but social pragmatics language; on 12/07/2012 witness recommended updated OT evaluation and

pragmatics assessment, Parent and attorney requested no further testing due to Dennis appointment.
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She did not sce evaluations in the book besides speech and language evaluation and Student’s
evaluation until the conference; she does not attend many SBIT meetings, it is school-based team, so
she doesnot go unlessinvited; besides behavior plar, no other supportsin place; SBIT can recommend
anything, but not typically an aide to sit there all day; it is obvious based on this student’s testing that
she wants attention, but aides do not have teachers’ expertise; they would recommend best setting
for student, self-contained behavior classroom, with 8-10 students and social skills is part of
curriculum; She has never known SBIT to recommend an aide, as that is not an intervention strategy
for a student. They are involved in special ed because Ms, Barnes got the call, and the call would not
have gone to her unless there was something in the conversation or something to indicate special ed

needed to be involved, 12

Denies receiving notice of conference scheduling around August of 2010; denies receiving

referral form; does recall getting phone call re/special ed services—got the call at work, does not
remember whe it was, but the lady said she was affiliated with the program in North Little Rock, had
some information from Children’s Hospital, wanted to know if she wanted to talk with them or get
services for student; thinks it was like a daycare center for special needs kids, says she told caller no
since Student already getting services at Hop, Skip and Jump. Denies getting referral conference
notice of decision.'™ Lady to whom she says she gave paperwork this year not here today; the person
to whom she gave paperwork was biack lady, voluptuous; parent filled out paperwork at table, had

brown envelope from her job with alt Student’s evaluations in it, and when she handed it in she sajd
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she had speech, evaluations for Student, was told go back into the cafeteria and that is where gave it
to the lady she thought was nurse. Says she provided documents two times in Pre-Kindergarten, at
registration and then again on first day of school, tried to give to Ms. Love, who said parent had to
give it to nurse. 22

Went downtown three times, didn’t take evaluations with her, told them she had provided to
the school, both this and last year. The same day Student got suspended the school called her to bring
evaluations, it was afler-hours, she was told Student suspended and was recommended for 45-day
treatment, Ms. Ray advised they did not have paperwork and asked if parent would provide it
(witness says for 2™ time). She does not remember receiving the documents in the mail Only thing
she recalls re/the phone call as to offering services as to location was it was “over there by west
campus and by the District.” Recalls the lady said they provide speech and OT, said nothing was said
-E.lbout testing. The black lady she thought was the nurse, she has seen her recently at Baseline, but no
name. '

In August of 2010 parent lived in apartment 314, a complex with about 200 abartments; she
wouldn’t have gotten mail without apartment number on the mailing; on some things in the past
mailers have called her if something went back; the form in this case did not contain apartment
number. 12

END OF TESTIMONY

Conclusions of Law

2 yol. TII pp 186 - 189
13 Vol. TH pp 189 - 193

% ol M pp 193 - 196
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After due consideration to matters of recommendations, matters of official notice and the foregoing
Findings of Fact, in my capacity as a Due Process Hearing Officer , I make the following conclusions
of law:

1. [Student] qualified in December 2012 for special education services from Little
Rock School District as a student with receptive and expressive language problems and developmental
delays, 1%

2. [Student ]'s interventions for the 2012/2013 school year, as developed at the local
level in SBIT Committee meetings, were reasomably calculated to provide [Student] with an
educational benefit.1%

3. [Student]’s educational placement during the 2011/2012 school year in the regular
Pre-Kindergarten and until November 2012 Kindergarten environment was appropriate and in
compliance with theleast restrictive environment provision ofthe IDEA and its mmplementing Federal
regulations, '’

4. [Student] was provided with a free appropriate public education by Little Rock

125 34 CFR Sec. 300.7¢a)(8)(9) and (11)

126 Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson Central School District v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176, 206-

207
(1982). See also Evans v. District No. 17 of Douglas County, 841 F.2d 824 (3th Cir.1988). (Sce also
Iiidependent School District No. 283 v. S.D. by 1.D., 88 F.3d 556 (8th Cir. 1996). More
recommendation see: Hiller v. Board of Education, (16 IDELR 1246) (N.D. N.Y. 1990); Bangor
School Department (36 IDELR 192) (SEA ME 2002): Jefferson Country Board of Education,
(28 IDELR 951) (SEA AL 1998); Adaom J. v. Keller Independent School District, 328 F_3d
304 (5th Cir. 2003Y; School Board of Coliier

Countyv. K.C.., 285 F. 3d 977 (11th Cir. 2002), 36 IDELR 122, aff’d 34 IDELR 89 (M.D. Fla. 2001);
and Costeilo v. Mitchell Public School District 79, 35 IDELR 159 (8th Cir. 200 I

7720 U.S.C. I 1412(5)(B); 34 CFR Reg. 300.550-552
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School District during the 1993-94 school year. '

5. “Because a second-grader with ADHD made academic progress and his parent
repeatedly declined a Minnesota district’s offer to evaluate the student’s need for special education,
an ALJ concluded that the district did not violate its child find obligation. "™

FINAL DECISION

Because a second-grader with ADHD made academic progress and his parent rep eatedly
declined a Minnesota district's offer to evaluate the student's need for special education, an ALJ
concluded that the district did not violate its Child Find obligation. '

While not directly on point, the refusal by the Parent for services to be provide by the Pulaski
County Tri-District Barly Childhood Program, an extension of the Little Rock District (the Litile
Rock, North Little Rock and Pulaski County Special District) met the District’s Child Find obligation
to provide services until and uniess the Parent discontinued the private services the Student was
receiving and consented to evaluations and services to be provided by the district.

When this Student was enrolied in Pre-Kindergarten or Kindergarten, the District had no
follow-up duty to see if special ed services were needed because of Tri-District prior knowledge of
outside agency services. However, the District still has Child Find duty for 3 to 21 but becanse of the
Tri-District program, they did meet the Child Find obligation. The Parent refused the service at that

time, so then the District would not necessarily have prior knowledge of any services provided bya

1% Board of Education of the Hendrick Hudson District v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982)

% 49 IDELR 115 ; 107 LRP 60673; Category Special Education, SEA; Duluth Independent District
#709; Minnesota State Educationai Agency; 60-1300-17896-9; 07-023H

©* 49 IDELR 115; 107 LRP 60673; Category Special Education, SEA; Duluth Independent District
#709; Minnesota State Educationa? Agency; 60-1300-17896-9; 07-023H
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private agency. When a student is leaving a Pre-Kindergarten program and 1s eligible for Kindergarten,
and a private provider no longer services the student, the District, with parental consent, has the
responsibility to provide services deemed necessary by current evaluations.

Districts must consider the use of posttive behavioral interventions and supports when a
student's behavior impedes his own learning or the learning of other students '™ The District in this
case fulfilled its IDEA obligations by reviewing evalvative data and concluding that the Student's
behavioral needs could be met through weekly counseling, an adjusted workload, and supervised
interventions prior to instituting an agreed IEP and District provided special ed services for the
Student.

ORDER
After due consideration of the record, the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law,

it is hereby ORDERED that all relief sought by Petitioner is DENIED,

FINALITY OF ORDER AND RIGHT TO APPFAL
The decision of this Hearing Officer is final and shall be implemented unless a party aggrieved
by it shall file a civil action in either Federal District Court or a State Court of competent jurisdiction
pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act within ninety (90) days after the date on
which the Hearing Officer’s Decision is filed with the Arkansas Department of Education.
Pursuant to Section 10.01.3 6.5, Special Education and Related Services: Procedural
Requirements and Program Standards, Arkansas Department of Education 2008, the Hearing Officer

has no further jurisdiction over the parties to the hearing.

Bl 34 CFR 300.324(a)(2)
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ppd

It is so Ordered.

00lSesgely)

Michael McCanley
Due Process Hearing Officer

July 1, 2013

As|neoopy jeeyoI

v, LESD 42

dogilL g1 zo Ine



